


August 2, 2012

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Good morning everyone. Welcome to the August 2nd meeting of the Collier County
Planning Commission. If you all please rise for the pledge of Allegiance.

(The Pledge of Allegiance was recited in unison.)

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. Will the secretary please do the roll call.

COMMISSIONER HOMIAK: Mr. Eastman is absent. Mr. Vonier?

COMMISSIONER VONIER: Present.

COMMISSIONER HOMIAK: Mr. Schiffer?

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: I'm here.

COMMISSIONER HOMIAK: Mr. Midney?

COMMISSIONER MIDNEY: Here.

COMMISSIONER HOMIAK: Ms. Ahern?

COMMISSIONER AHERN: Here.

COMMISSIONER HOMIAK: Mr. Strain?

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Here.

COMMISSIONER HOMIAK: Ms. Homiak is here.

Ms. Ebert?

COMMISSIONER EBERT: Here.

COMMISSIONER HOMIJAK: Mr. Klein?

COMMISSIONER KLEIN: Here.

COMMISSIONER HOMIAK: And Mr. Brougham is absent.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Right. He had told us last week, so.

*#*(Okay, addenda to the agenda. Do we have any changes from staff? Ray?

MR. BELLOWS: Yes, we have a request from the applicant of 9.B to be moved up to 9.A.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: We'll keep going on the way it's scheduled. It's too late to make changes and I'm
sure there are people here for the docks. And if it takes too long so be it.

Anything else, Ray?

MR. BELLOWS: That's it.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. Anybody on the panel?

(No response.)

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: No.

And what's the LDC amendments? We're not done with them. So when is the next round of those coming
forward?

MR. BELLOWS: Ihave on my agenda that we have LDC amendinents coming on the 16th, August 16th.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay.

Planning Commission absences. Does anybody know if they are not going to make it to the August 16th
meeting?

COMMISSIONER VONIER: I will not.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. Anybody else?

(No response.)

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: We'll still have a quorum.

*** Approval of minutes. We don't have any.

***BCC recaps, Ray?

MR. BELLOWS: Yes. On July 24th the Board of County Commissioners heard the PUD amendment for
Parklands, and that was approved five to zero. No changes from the CCPC recommendation.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: That's GI. Homes?

MR. BELLOWS: Yes.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Good, good.

Go ahead, Brad.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Ray, they also, on the LDC, said they were going to put together the
architectural review committee, remember, that we suggested, this board?

MR. BELLOWS: I believe they are working on it but I don't have an update on that.
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COMMISSIONER VONIER: Aye.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Aye.

Anybody opposed?

{(No response.)

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Motion carries 8-0.

I can't see on the other side. Is our nameplates in front?

MR. BELLOWS: Yes.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. Wanted to make sure.

#*+¥We'll go to our advertised public hearings. The first item up is BDE-PL20110000644, the Helsel boat
dock extension. It's on the Isle of Capri.

All those wishing to testify on behalf of this item, please rise to be sworn in by the court reporter.

(Speakers were duly sworn.)

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Disclosures on the part of the Planning Commission.

(No response.)

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. This is a rare one, we didn't have any.

With that we'll go to the presentation.

Who is --

MR. THOEMKE: Good morning. My name is Kris Thoemke. I work for Coastal Engineering Consultants,
representing the client, Mr. Ron Helsel, who's also here.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Kris, I didn't recognize you. I was asking --

MR. THOEMKE: I got older.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Well, we all have, yeah. Ihonestly didn't recognize you. Quite a few years. Good
to see you again.

MR. THOEMKE: It happens. Thank you. Just to give you an -- okay.

MR. BELLOWS: Do you have a map?

MR. THOEMKE: Well, that's fine, but I can use this.

MR. BELLOWS: Whatever one you want.

MR. THOEMKE: Just to give you an overview of where this is on the Isles of Capri, it's just as you come
onto the Isles of Capri, a road coming in. The project area is here. Probably can't see my thumb. The project area is
right here where my thumb is.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: You'll need to use the mike, the portable mike if you go there.

MR. THOEMKE: Is that better?

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Yep.

MR. THOEMKE: As you come onto the Isles of Capri -- and you - just to give you an idea of what it looks
like, a little bit closer aerial there, this is off of the most current aerial from the Property Appraiser's website. Let me
adjust this.

This is the - Mr. Helsel's property right here. These are pilings from an old dock that was destroyed in
Hurricane Wilma. And this is county land right here, Blue Heron restaurant. This is obviously a dead-end waterway.
And what it looks like on the ground at this point in time is something like this. This is Mr. Helsel's property and you
can see, just give you an idea what the area looks like.

I know you've reviewed our application, or hope you have, I assume you have. Our plan is to construct a
dock that meets the DEP requirements because we have to be mindful of those as well in terms of what is allowed.
This is in an aquatic preserve so there are other restrictions. We went out and did a detailed bathymetric survey of the
area, also located a seagrass bed which we had to avoid, and came up with a dock proposal that will also meet the
DEP's criteria for depth, which is, you can't go any lower than minus four feet mean low water.

This dock as designed -- the actual dock length is 29 and a half feet, which is about a half foot shorter than the
previous dock that was there, which was the big pilings came out to about 30 feet. And then the boat is on the outside
of that in order for depth purposes, and it would be on a lift.

On your drawing that you have, just so that it's clear, the depth values that you see there are in a datum called
NAVD. You subtract 1.62 feet to reach a mean low water on that. So those -- and we have to use the NAVD datum
for DEP because that's what they require.
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actually a channel through this area back prior to around 1940, I know the channel existed. So the ownership of there
is something I can't answer. That would be something you would have to probably talk to the applicant. I think their
representatives are here, they might be able to shed some light on that question. But I don't know what else to tell
you.

COMMISSIONER VONIER: All right. Thank you.

MR. THOEMKE: Okay.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Anybody else? Kris, as a follow-up to that question, we're used to seeing riparian
lines on some of our docks, especially ones that are more questionable. This particular one, where is the riparian line
that would give us an indication of that house that Bill just pointed to and the rights they may have to access the
water?

MR. THOEMKE: Riparian lines are a touchy issue, a difficult issue. The state has not -- there's no statute in
state law that specifically defines how riparian lines are established other than it says that it can be mutual agreement
of two neighbors or by a Court of competent jurisdiction. So riparian lines are not set, preset by anybody.

In this particular instance, I assume you are talking about the riparian line on the east side?

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Yes.

MR. THOEMKE: That would be something that we can make the contention -- if we make the contention
that they have no waterfront rights then the riparian line could be an extension of the property like. Had there been a
marked channel in this area it could have also been perpendicular to the marked channel back to those. Those are the
two common ways in which riparian lines are set. That doesn't mean that's the only way.

This is an unusual situation in that you have a dead-end area. The property to the east is, it's unknown as to
where -- how much waterfront rights they have because I'm not sure who owns that land. That Jand seaward of the
county land naturally accreted, but that doesn't necessarily mean that it belongs to -- as I understand it it doesn't
necessarily mean it belongs to the property owners, it could belong to the state because it depends on what caused the
accretion to occur. A

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Kiis, let's go back to the basic question.

MR. THOEMKE: Okay.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Are you under the contention that that property has no riparian rights?

MR. THOEMKE: Idon't have an opinion as to whether it does.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: In one of your previous statements you said that the riparian lines could have been
set by a mutual agreement between the property owners. Did you get an agreement with that property owner setting a
riparian line?

MR. THOEMKE: We have not discussed that with the property owner, did not --

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: That would have been vital to today's process, as far as I'm concerned, to just at least
have that courtesy to go to your neighbor and say here is what I'd like to do, do you have any objections. If not,
would you mind giving us consent. Then it would have made my job a lot easier as far as reviewing this from that
aspect. And I think that is important, the riparian line for not only them but the potential riparian line for Collier
County.

We recently had a boat dock application that had a dock situated at the end of a canal, similar to what you've
got here. And if you were to give rights to any of the other properties you're already going by 42 feet out of a 118 feet
because part of that end is already cut off by the restaurant. You're down to, what, 60, 70 — let's see -- 80 feet. I just
want to make sure that everybody's rights are protected, including the county's, in regards to the property. And I'm
not saying yours is right or wrong, I just want to make sure the others are understood.

MR. THOEMKE: We have thought about that recently and there is one potential scenario that might work.
This is not the only one. But in this scenario here, if this corner lot has waterfront rights, as I understand the Land
Development Code sets the riparian line between the county and this property owner at a 45-degree angle. I found
this -- language for this in the LDC. The property -- the riparian line here does not necessarily have to be 45 degrees.
The intent of riparian law as I understand it, is to give everybody access to the water. That would include this
property here, the Blue Heron, the county's land, this property owner, they form basically the cove there.

So if we set this angle at 30 degrees, we would still meet the setback criteria from the riparian line for this
dock. This owner has access to the water. They have their issues to deal with obviously with the land that's there, but
that's not an issue that is a factor to us. But this provides this property owner access, it provides the county access and
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COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Okay. So my question is, and I saw the data, what is that you are actually
measuring then? In other words, is it based on some benchmark somewhere and --

MR. THOEMKE: It's based referenced to a benchmark. This is a standard that's used throughout the state to
-- in surveying. I'm not a surveyor so I'm not sure I can explain this to you as a surveyor would. But there is a
benchmark that is used, and we use a unit that -- called an RTK unit, Real Time Kinematic Unit, which collects very
accurate data on depth and we reference this to the benchmark and then all the information is posted in this datum
called NAVD. It relates to mean low water by correcting it for 1.62 feet.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Okay. Yes, that is -- but what have we been looking at in the past, then
when we see datam? I thought it was low water datum.

MR. THOEMKE: Idon't know.

COMMISSIONER AHERN: Is the benchmark in NGVD and now you're just converting it to NA --

MR. THOEMKE: NGVD is another benchmark like NAVD. The state went from using NA -- went from
using NGVD to NAVD several years ago. So it's like the NGVD. Thave no idea what other applicants have brought
to you in the past. But this is the standard way we have been doing it for years and years and years.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Okay, good. Understand, thank you.

COMMISSIONER AHERN: [ think there -- other applicants are converting it probably and showing us the
actual.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: That's what -- I just know the three -- most of our applicants are trying to get to the
depth that you've gone past. But I understand your reasoning.

Anybody else have any questions?

(No response.)

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. Thank you.

Staff report?

MR. SAWYER: Again, for the record, Mike Sawyer, project manager for the petition. You've got the staff
report, revised date July 12th. Our analysis has indicated that the applicant meets four of the five primary. And with
regard to the six secondary it fails to meet two of those criteria. There is also one of the secondary criteria that are not
applicable in this case. I'm here for questions.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Brad?

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: And Mike, this one would fit under our administrative program, correct?

MR. SAWYER: Quite honestly, because that has been changing, the amendment has been changing over
time, quite honestly I can't quite answer that. I don't believe it would, simply because with the current criteria it is
missing one of the primary and two of the secondary.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Okay. All right.

MR. SAWYER: So, I mean -- and we've got those criteria being revised again. I'm not sure if this would or
not. I would have to guess that it probably would not.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Okay.

MR. SAWYER: This would probably come to you anyway.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Then the question is, what's your thoughts on this large terminal platform?
One of the things we've done and always done in the past is to prevent unnecessary docks, especially when it's an
extension.

MR. SAWYER: Correct. And we did find that it did not meet that criteria. It is -- while it may meet the
state criteria as far as allowable decking area, it exceeds what we would consider the minimum needed for safe
ingress, egress and maintenance.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: I guess, Kiis, is there a problem if we cut that down? I mean, everybody
would like it. People come in here and they'd, you know, put a basketball court down there if they could, but --

MR. THOEMKE: Understand. I would like to maybe have the client address that so that he can tell you his
thoughts on that.

MR. HELSEL: So I understand then your goal would be to just cut down the square footage of the dock?

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Right.

MR. HELSEL: Okay. As long as the dock still stays in an L configuration we can cut some off that inside
corner.
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trying to compare the dock to the requested dock facility and we should be comparing a dock facility to a dock
facility.

And honestly, I'm not sure it's going to have any bearing on the whole thing, but just to be accurate I just
wanted to understand for the record what the approved facility dock length was next door. And we don't have that
information, is what it boils down to.

MR. SAWYER: Correct. What we do have is the distance for that decking area, which again is fairly
consistent with what the request is for. Again, they can put whatever vessel would actually fit, and we basically, as
staff, we look at it as well as we can.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: No. And I understand, Mike, I think though if we -- and I apologize for not calling
you and giving you a heads up before today's meeting. I should have done that because then you could have been
prepared with any kind of research needed to answer the question better.

But I would have, when we answer these questions if we pay attention to the -- because we do have -- we
have adopted different definitions for dock and dock facility. And if we're going to ask a question for a facility then it
ought to be responded with a facility comparison not just a dock comparison. And that's all I was trying to get to.

MR. SAWYER: I would certainly agree.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: That's the only point I was trying to make so in the future we can have that
information and be more accurate.

MR. SAWYER: We'll provide it.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Melissa?

COMMISSIONER AHERN: Mike, on the same lines, the house two doors down, is that a covered area for
the -- and then next to that it looks like a large platform. Is that -- and then -

MR. SAWYER: I believe that is accurate.

COMMISSIONER AHERN: But it is covered out to the 35 feet?

MR. SAWYER: It definitely looks that way, yes.

COMMISSIONER AHERN: Okay. Thank you.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Any other questions of staff?

(No response.)

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Thank you, Mike.

Is there any public speakers, Ray?

MR. BELLOWS: Yes, we have two speakers, Rocky Scofield to be followed by Craig Woodward.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Craig, you look a lot like Mark.

MR. WOODWARD: Right, right.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: So everybody knows, Mark and Craig Woodward are twins.

MR. WOODWARD: That's correct, that's correct, he's my brother. I don't usually admit to that in public.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: No, you're better off not to.

MR. WOODWARD: Craig Woodward. I'm an attorney from Marco Island, and I'm here representing the
neighbor to the east, the one that we've been talking about for a while. The neighbor to the east, Doctor Wasserman
and his wife, own the property and it's -- I'm going to show you a photograph that was taken on Tuesday, a couple of
days ago.

This photograph was taken on Tuesday by Rocky, who is here. And you can see where - you can see they
have a davit here on the property and they have water that runs from the seawall here all the way over to the rock,
riparian, the rock embulkment (sic) there by the park. And this photo was not taken at high tide, it's kind of hard to
see, but you can actually see the growth line. The water is much higher when the tide is up.

Our client was not mentioned at all in the petition, and it looks sort of intentional. They mention property to
the south, which is the restaurant all the way across the bay, and they mention property to the west, but they sort of
ignore our client who is here.

We agreed with the comment that was mentioned earlier that they could push this dock to the west. The
reason why the old boat dock where the piling still exists, is to the west is because that, as was well pointed out, that's
where the deep water is. If'you look at the water depth chart that the petitioner provided, you'll see out there along the
west riparian line you have water depths at 5.1, 5.5, 5.2. All of those are much deeper than they -- as you come back
closer toward the shore, toward the beach area, and that's why they had the original dock out there.
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you were to go in and modify your dock now you would have to come back in and get approved and then there could
be some restrictions.

But you are correct. We don't know what size boat they could pull up. They are far enough away from my
client that there is no view issue there, it's an old grandfathered structure, we don't have any control over it, but we're
trying to preclude that happening again.

COMMISSIONER AHERN: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: But if you are saying that the 31 feet is typical and acceptable -

MR. WOODWARD: That's historically acceptable and we have no problem with that.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay, and you're at 31 -- your client's at -- the 579 clients, not you. But the 579 is at
31 feet. So these guys are at 29.5.

MR. WOODWARD: No, 31 one would be the entire envelope including the boat.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: But that's not the 31 that you are showing here. The 31 one you are showing here
for 579 is not the entire envelope. You just acknowledged that by the fact they would put a boat on the outside of that
dock. Soifit's --

MR. WOODWARD: They're the only -- notice they're the only one, all right. If you look down here their
boat is back here in a lift. These people have their boat in a boathouse. These people, according to my client who's
lived there for a long time, brought their boat in like on the side here. And these people, I don't know, they could be
bringing their boat in here. I don't really know where their boat is being brought in at.

We're not happy with the people at 579 being out that far but that is not a view issue for us, we're far enough
away, and that's been the way it's been grandfathered. But just because they were grandfathered in with an
unpermitted structure doesn't necessarily give everybody rights to do the same thing.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: I was just going by -- I thought you indicated in the beginning of your presentation
that you didn't disagree with the 31 feet.

MR. WOODWARD: No, we know 20 feet is allowed. But in this situation people need 31 feet because of
the depths of the water, and you can see everybody down the street is doing it. So we're being liberal and saying 31
feet is what's required in this situation. But we don't think you need to go to 42 feet, which is the issue.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. But the real issue is 579 at 31 feet is really 42 feet because they have a boat
on the outside of that dock.

MR. WOODWARD: Again, I don't - they may be at 56 feet. We don't know what -- they may be pulling in
ayacht. I don't know what they are pulling in there. I don't know.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: I'm just trying to make sure the comparisons are accurate. My biggest concern is
what you pointed out and what I see in the right hand side of that screen. The previous presentation by the applicant
seemed to indicate no one knew if these guys had any rights at all to the water and stuff like that. But in reality they
have a boat lift and everything and they are apparently using it, otherwise I don't imagine why it's there. So I'm a little
puzzled as to why we had a presentation that seems a bit disingenuous in the way it was presented in regards to that
house when we specifically asked about it on the corner, so we'll readdress that before we finish.

MR. WOODWARD: Again there maybe is -- the picture taken on Tuesday, I wish we had taken at a little
higher tide because you can see the dark line there. But you can see there's — yeah, exactly there's --

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: This property owner has water access, which we were led to believe that the fill, the
shoreline had receded almost to their property line or to the point where they may not even have any water. So this
photo says a lot.

Further down on your -- the client, the applicant's property, there is a, can you move the photo? On 578, in
the middle of the property there is a -- some kind of facility, little white dot, what looks like four posts around it. Is
that a lift, do you know? Does your photograph show it? Yeah, does your photograph show what that is?

MR. WOODWARD: No, I don't know what that is.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Thank you. Any other questions?

MR. SCHIFFER: Ido.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Go ahead.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: One thing you are not pointing out is that after the 31 feet we're lifting it in
the air. The other guy's floating in the water.

MR. WOODWARD: That's a very good point.
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foot wide docks, if -- the administrative. So that's the point on that one.

This lot, when it was platted, the original plat was for 60 feet on the waterway. It was never dredged to that.
As alot of the properties in Isles of Capri were, especially down in Pompano and Snook Bay, they were not finished
dredging, a lot of land has accreted in these waterways, especially on this end. So the applicant wound up with 28
feet of water at high tide there, as you can see, or medium tide was what that photo was taken at the other day. So
historically there was access. They have a davit, they probably pulled a skiff up there, a flats boat, something very
shallow draft in there. And we're just concerned about maintaining riparian rights for our client. If you have any
questions I'll be glad to answer them.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: When the photo that you have in front of us right now, when was that taken?

MR. SCHOFIELD: That's a county aerial photograph, so it was taken within the last couple of years.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: I'mean, the reason -- and, Ray, can you take the photograph on Page 3 of our
application or of our staff report and put it on the projector?

Now, look at the difference in those two photos. In the photo that we have in our packet, it appears that the
shoreline has gone almost up to the property line of the applicant for the neighbor to the east. So the question of
access to the waterway becomes somewhat moot because it appears like they didn't have waterway in the first place.

The dock to the south, which is the Blue Heron restaurant, shows columns or piling in the water alongside the
restaurant.

Now, go back to the other photo, which I'm not sure which photo is the most recent now. If you could pan
out. Let me finish.

MR. SCHOFIELD: Okay.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Could someone move out, pan out on this, Mike? No, farther.

Okay, right there. Look at the dock configuration on this one for the Blue Heron restaurant, missing the
piling and the extensions going out on the waterway, as well as this one clearly shows the shoreline giving access to
577. How did we end up with the difference in photographs, do you know, Mike?

MR. SAWYER: The one that -- again, for the record, Mike Sawyer, project manager. The photo that's in the
staff report is from the most current 2012 aerial from Property Appraiser's. Where the other photo came from, I'm not
sure --

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: So Rocky, what are you trying to show us?

MR. SCHOFIELD: No, ours is probably a couple of years old. It was -- that's either -- and I can't be -- |
don't know if that was a Google Earth or the county, but -

COMMISSIONER HOMIAK: It's the county because I looked this past weekend --

MR. SCHOFIELD: It's county, okay. It's a county arrow so it's obviously older than the staff's.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Ray, you're sitting there with a computer, would you pull up the Appraiser's website
and take a look and see what it shows on the most recent --

MR. BELLOWS: My computer crashed, I'm restarting. Sorry about that.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: I'm sorry, you can't talk off mike record, Kris. So we'll get to you in a minute.

Ray, as you find that let me know because that would be important to see. I would like to know -- this is a
completely different photo and presents a completely different picture than the one that was in our packet. You took a
current photo when you were on site and it was shown by Mark or -- Craig, I'm sorry, you guys look alike. Craig, can
you put that photo back up?

So this resembles more of the aerial photo that you presented, Rocky, then the one that's in our packet
because it shows the shoreline quite a ways back from the property line. That's why I'm trying to understand which
photograph is the most recent. We should have the most recent in our packet.

MR. SCHOFIELD: It could be recent or not. But if the photographs are taken at high or low tide that's - I
believe that's what you are referring to. The tide, it's a shallow area and the tide swings quite a bit here.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Well, this is low tide.

MR. SCHOFIELD: Pardon? This is about a mid-tide.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. But still, I mean, it's not -- I mean, at high tide it would even look worse.
The point is, your client's property does have what looks like to be bona fide water access and that's a critical factor in
our review of this. It was not what I saw in the beginning of this discussion, and the photographs have made that
blatantly clear.
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what we would like to do -~

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Mark, a question?

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Go ahead, Brad.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Do you dispute the photograph Rocky took yesterday?

MR. THOEMKE: Well, it depends on when the tide was.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: The fact is at one point in time yesterday water was licking the property
line, right?

MR. THOEMKE: Right.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Okay, you don't dispute that.

MR. THOEMKE: I don't dispute that, no.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Then Bill, then Diane.

COMMISSIONER VONIER: The question I have is would people bother to build a seawall if they didn't
have water access. And this property definitely has a seawall, the one to the east.

MR. THOEMKE: A lot of structures on Isles of Capris, as was pointed out by those folks, were done
illegally. I mean, I don't know if there was a permit for this or not. But I tell you what, we can solve this problem in a
different way --

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Before you do, Diane, did you want to --

COMMISSIONER EBERT: Yes. Does -- when was the seawall put in?

MR. THOEMKE: The seawall on their property? I have no idea. I would have no way of knowing that.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: When was the seawall on your client's property put in? It looks like they are
continuous, so -

COMMISSIONER EBERT: Yes. It looks continuous.

MR. UNIDENTIFIED: They are not the same seawall.

MR. THOEMKE: They're not the same seawall, but his seawall was put in in the 1970's. But, I tell you,
we've been listening to what you said, and we have a drawing here that sort of shows something that might be a
solution, okay.

If we were to move the boat perpendicular to the dock, we can -- under this scenario here, the total length was
going to be 39 feet, which is not 31. But by doing this, we could also shift the entire structure a little more to the west
to get closer to that 15-foot setback, and that might give us enough depth to shorten the dock to get it into around 31
feet, under this configuration. And that's something we're willing to take a look at to see if we can make that work
and see if that wouldn't be an amicable solution to the problem.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Brad.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Wouldn't you put the boat on the other side of the dock. I mean, put the
edge of the boat --

MR. THOEMKE: Well, then the problem is --

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: -- and this would be a good example of when a variance would be
something that would probably be acceptable.

MR. THOEMKE: We'd have to have a variance to do that and we were trying to avoid that. We also have to
have a variance from DEP, but I believe that we have that issue covered.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: But the width of this would be the same if you put the boat on the other side
and you slid the dock over. In other words, put the edge of that 12-foot boat, you know, the lift on the 15 feet. Why
wouldn't you do that? Because the water is deeper over there, why would you propose this versus that?

MR. THOEMKE: Originally this is what the client preferred to have, so we did what he asked us to do. But
he would like to comment on this, if you don't mind.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Here is the thing, is it looks like he's trying to keep open the same vista that
the people on the east are trying to keep open, then.

MR. THOEMKE: What are the rights in your opinion of the property owner over here? Being on an angle to
the water, do they have a right to have a view going like this -

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: No.

MR. THOEMKE: -- through the neighbor's property? Where does their line -- their line doesn't go -- a view
right doesn't go along riparian line. And in riparian law as I understand it, the primary concerns of the courts has been
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don't need a variance and --

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: You just need the extension from us.

MR. HELSEL: Then that's fine.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Ithink if you were to do that and get --

MR. HELSEL: That acceptable?

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Well, no, we don't need to do that here, but I think what -- in stepping back from
this whole thing rather than seek an action from us today, which we would have to vote on the plan you submitted,
you might want to ask for a continuance, resubmit a more -- the details to what we talked about today, resubmit it to
Mike Sawyer, get it done quickly because he's done all the basics, get the late -- make sure we have the latest
photograph in our packet, get together with your neighbor. Now that you know that they are going to be objecting it.
To this point it would be wise, just to give them a heads up, say, here is what I'm going to resubmit, so you know what
you are going walk into next time.

And if you all can come to a mutual agreement and you can come with no variance and just a 31-foot
extension or whatever it is you think it will all come out to, life would be simpler and it would make it easier for this
board to find approval on it.

So I would highly suggest that you consider that when we finish talking today. And that is recommendation
and resubmit. It wouldn't take you that much time for a resubmittal to Mike Sawyer. Mike's quick. He's got a history
behind this stuff so you go through it fast and put it back on our agenda. And it might delay you one or two meetings
of ours. We meet again on the 16th. We meet the first Thursday in September again. So that might be a way to go.

Anybody else have any comments?

MS. ASHTON: Mr. Chair, if we are going to continue it could we continue it to a date certain in September
so that they don't have to readvertise?

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: If they ask for a continuance we'll get Mike to give us a date certain on when he
could re-review it.

MS. ASHTON: Okay.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Does anybody else on the Planning Commission have a comment on that?

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: He has a comment, Mark.

MR. HELSEL: First one in September.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: First one in September?

MR. HELSEL: Well, we have a conflict with the 16th and T won't be able to fly back down. Iflew down to
attend the meeting because of all the concerns issued here. I won't be able to leave my business again.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: If you get this put back together and you don't have the opposition you got here
today, or most of those issues are gone away, I think you will find that you will not even need to be here. It would be
a lot simpler process. Normally, docks --

MR. HELSEL: Cheaper too.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Yes, it would be. And I'm sorry that you have to go through so much, but --

MR. HELSEL: It is what it is. I mean, I said it's -- I'm very happy with the property I bought. I didn't buy it
to flip, I bought it to have somewhere to have a winter home.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: I think the general consensus from this board has always been waterfront owners
have rights for docks. It's just a matter of how we get those docks put in place.

MR. HELSEL: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: So Kris, are you as representative officially requesting a continuance to the first
meeting in September?

MR. THOEMKE: Yes, til the first meeting in September.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Heidi, is that sufficient?

MS. ASHTON: Yes, I believe that's September 6th.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: September 6th. And they will be -- because they are a continued item they would
be the first one up at that meeting.

MR. BELLOWS: Correct.

MR. THOEMKE: Okay.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Is that okay with the Planning Commission?
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office infill criteria which your staff has reviewed in good detail in your packet.

Our request is for a commercial PUD. I'm sorry, I forgot to mention the zoning to the south. The zoning to
the south is the Brynwood Preserve residential PUD, which goes across our southern boundary as well as the southern
boundary of Marquesa. We're requesting 145,000 square feet of retail and office uses with the ability to convert some
or all of that square footage to hotel and/or senior housing.

Our -- we have some caps as far as the retail and office uses, you know, should the development occur as the
retail and office uses. We have a maximum of 25,000 square feet of retail and we have a maximum of 60,000 square
feet of medical office.

We did our transportation analysis under the 25,000 square feet of retail, 60,000 square feet of medical office
and 60,000 square feet of general office analysis. Those maximum trips are caps that are included in our PUD
document, so if there is any conversion to a hotel or any conversion to senior housing, we're still capped at those
maximum number of trips. So the conversion formula we put in there really is a conversion formula addressing
square footage, not really addressing transportation impacts, because we already have the transportation cap in the
PUD.

I'm going to put up -- this is the proposed PUD master plan for the project. As you can see, we have
substantial preserve and buffers along the -- as you can see we have a substantial preserve along a portion of our
southern boundary and another preserve with enhanced buffer along our southern boundary as well.

We met with the president of the Brynwood Preserve homeowners association regarding the preserve and the
location of the preserves. You received a letter from one of the residents of Brynwood Preserve preferring that the
width of the Marquesa preserve be carried continuously along our entire southern boundary. And I believe that
preserve is approximately 130 feet wide.

This preserve right here is about 260 -- okay. This preserve width is approximately 275 feet in width so we
exceed -- obviously exceed what Marquesa had. When we met with the president of Brynwood Preserve we
explained to her that we felt that this configuration of a preserve together with an enhanced landscape buffer and a
wall provided better protection to the residents in Brynwood Preserve. And perhaps -- let me put an aerial up for you
to -- to better show what we were talking to them about.

You have -- the residents in Brynwood Preserve are oriented with their front doors facing the project, so they
have a lake behind them, where they are going to spend most of their time in their home is going to be facing towards
the lake not really facing the project. For most of the properties, the larger preserve addresses their front door
entrance. And for this area here the preserve, together with the enhanced landscape buffer, together with the wall will
address this person's side yard and these couple of people's front yard views of the project, should view become an
issue, as well as noise, with having the wall here.

What we explained through the process was we have a conceptual layout with this building oriented right
now with the shorter end of it, if you will, on the side, closest to our residential neighbor, and then they have their
preserves here as well. If we were to carry through the preserve at the width that they are requesting, you would force
a design of the site plan where this building would flip and you would have more of the building facing the residents
and more than likely that would be the hotel building, which they don't object to, more than likely you would have the
rear of the hotel facing the residents. And we felt and they agreed that this gave us a better layout of our site to have
the building oriented in the manner that it's oriented together with the enhanced landscape buffer and wall to address
concerns they may have with view of the building. And that was the primary concern was view, together with noise,
and that's the wall.

I'will tell you, noise is an issue because of what happened at the Marquesa Plaza. Now Marquesa was
approved, I don't know, I think 2004-ish and they received an administrative waiver of a wall requirement along their
southern property line. They have a nice buffer, and I could show you pictures. I went out there on, I think it was
Monday, and took some pictures of the buffer for Marquesa, but they don't have a wall. And what they put on the
very southern boundary of their property was a tire and automobile repair center, that's at the end of their project.
That's a very noisy use. We understood that going in and we made sure we did not make that same mistake. We
limited where we could have a tire or automobile repair center to a minimum of 600 feet from the southern property
line. And you can -- and Kay can shoot in if she wants -- I think I have a -- yes, if you shoot in on that you can see
where that 600-foot line is on that aerial.

We have a requirement -- so we have a minimum distance requirement of 600 feet for that type of use within
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CHAIRMAN STRAIN: From a staff's perspective, why don't we use little numbers, footnote numbers from
now on, and request that. It's not hard to do. We've done it for most of them. This is the first time I've seen so many,
1 think, of asterisks.

MS. DESELEM: We can use that. For the record, Kay Deselem.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Thank you.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: We can set an asterisk limit, like no more than three.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: It does get confusing when you -- because if you --

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Well, I mean, you're counting the -- it's really not right.

COMMISSIONER VONIER: Stupid.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Okay. Well -- and then there is going to be, whichever asterisk it's going to be, the
one that does deal with no sound speakers. There are some words in there after it says, the only sound speaker systems
permitted are for drive-through windows. And it says, for uses such as banks. In talking to the chairman, and I agree,
taking the words uses, such as banks, avoids some ambiguity that we can argue that anything is like a bank or a fast
food restaurant, so we recommend deleting the --

MS. ASHTON: Rich, can you tell us where you are, because I have no idea where you are.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Page five of six, I'm sorry, under the development standards table. I jumped ahead, I
thought everybody was with me.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: We're back to the asterisks again, though.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Yeah, we're still more asterisks. I believe that's double asterisks.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: But this is the double under the development standards table instead of the uses
table, so -~

MR. YOVANOVICH: That's where I confused myself. I actually had jumped to that and that's why I had
the wrong asterisk when I was referring to you guys. So your point is well taken.

On Page 5 of 16, the double asterisks, we need to take the words "uses such as" out before the words "banks"
or "fast food".

If you go to the next page, Page 16.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Page 6 or 16 --

MR. YOVANOVICH: Page 6 of 16, sorry. Under item Roman numeral IV.B, the last sentence, it says, this
use is not permitted less than 600 feet. I think grammatically it should read, these uses are not permitted, because
we're referring to automobile service and repair shops. I think these uses is -- these uses are, is grammatically correct.
And that deals with what I spent some time earlier talking about regarding addressing the Marquesa shopping center
issue.

If you'll go to Exhibit C, I believe it is, the master plan, second page, and that's the one that has total site area
13.65 at the beginning and then it has a notes section. And -- there is no asterisk on this page. It should look like that.
Is everybody with me?

Under the third note, we wanted to make sure that we are consistent with the Land Development Code as to
what is an insubstantial versus a substantial versus an administrative change that could be made with regard to
changing the location of buildings. So as long as we don't trigger either the insubstantial change process or the
substantial change process, we can make changes to the location of the buildings and configuration of the buildings.
So we added, and I hope I got the concept correct, Mr. Strain, was I added at the end, as provided for in the LDC.
And that's the concept of making sure -- if the LDC would claim what we're doing is some type of an insubstantial or
substantial change, one of which would come to you -- the substantial would come to you all. If there was a
substantial it would come to you and the BCC. We would still have to come through that process. We weren't asking
for a deviation from that processes by that note.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Right. And]I had asked Kay to check that particular, and when we get to the staff
report, as long as she concurs that that explains it, I'm fine with it. Ijust want to make sure staff is clear, as we go
down the road in the future.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Okay.

And then, this was a biggie, now I'm on Page 16. According to the notes in the NIM, from the NIM meeting,
on the last page of your write-up from your staff, and it happened after the meeting, and I don't remember saying it but
maybe I did say it, but apparently someone on our team said that we agreed to paint the wall that we would construct
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CHAIRMAN STRAIN: We know you do.

MR. YOVANOVICH: I think we need to make some clarifications in the PUD document regarding the
number of trips under the transportation commitments. If I get it wrong I'm sure John Podczerwinsky will correct me.

I think this is what it's supposed to read. I think the 565 unadjusted is supposed to go to 577 and then we're
supposed to delete what we struck through. And those were, I believe, the comments from John. Ihope we have the
right numbers there to talk about what he wanted. And he can correct it if -- during staff presentation or now, Mr.
Strain, if you prefer, either way.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: John, I've got other questions of transportation, why don't we just wait for staff
presentation to get into all that at one time. Thank you.

MR. YOVANOVICH: I believe, now, Mr. Strain, if you want I can answer some of the clarification
questions you had now. They don't result in changes to the documents but you do have some questions regarding --
on Page, basically Page 5 of 16, the development standards table.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Well, I think maybe the best thing to do now is take a break for the court reporter
and we'll come back and we'll finish up, we'll go right into it at that point. Let's take a 15 minute break and come back
at 10:50.

(A recess was taken.).

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay, everybody, welcome back from break. When we took break we left off with
the applicant's presentation getting hopefully to closure.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Close.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay, Richard, go ahead.

MR. YOVANOVICH: I just wanted to point two things out that I forgot to point out during the review of the
master plan, which I put back up. We've provided for interconnectivity to the — for properties to the east, which
carries on the theme to those other PUDs where you could basically go from Whippoorwill Lane to Livingston Road
without having to get onto Pine Ridge Road. And as you can see we've identified two potential interconnections
depending on how the property to our immediate east decides to develop.

We've already constructed in Pine Ridge Road, we're going to have a right in, right out as well as a left in.
The right in -- the turn lane for the right in has already been constructed and the turn lane for the left in has already
been constructed.

And then, going now back to Page 5, one of the two asterisks pages, a question was raised regarding the
fourth asterisk, which refers to a setback from preserves, and it says, measured from the preserve tract structural
buffers are permitted within the setback area. And then it says, see also the master plan. A question was raised
whether or not that required a deviation or not to have the structural buffer within the setback. Not within the
preserve but within the setback.

We had originally submitted a deviation because we thought we may need one. As we went through the
process, I believe it was Summer Araque from your environmental section said, you don't need a deviation. We did
leave the note on the table to make clear that we had the right to do those things. But we do not need a deviation
according to staff, and that note there is for information purposes.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Well, and as you know, we've tried to eliminate redundancy or items that aren't
needed or are already in the code from PUD language. Kay, I had asked yesterday when I talked to you, if you could
check on that to make sure that there was no deviation that -- and I don't know why we would care what they put in
the 25-foot setback as long as it isn't an accessory or principal use that violates the setback. So the whole purpose of
having those four asterisks there seems kind of unneeded.

And Kay, did you have time to take a look at that?

MS. DESELEM: For the record, Kay Deselem. No, I didn't. Summer is on maternity leave and Chris
D'Arco has been out of the office until today so I haven't had a chance to chat with him. But I see he's coming
forward, hopefully he can respond.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Sure.

MR. D'ARCO: Good morning. For the record, Chris D'Arco, environmental services. Yes, it is allowed per
code 3.05.07.H.1.h3. So it's permitted by the code, so -

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: We don't need it in the --

MR. D'ARCO: You don't need it in it.
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COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Acres.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Acres, which is the project.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Including preserves and everything.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Everything. And it came back to a 10,000 square foot reduction, keeping in mind
that there's a transportation cap that we can never exceed as far as the number of trips.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Okay. That's probably -- okay.

Well, that would probably be the best balance of the whole thing, do you agree? I mean, you would hit that
before you would hit some of these other numbers --

MR. YOVANOVICH: Oh, absolutely, and that --

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: -- particularly if you build a huge amount of group -- you know, with the .6
FAR you could build a, you know, a 300,000 square foot building.

MR. YOVANOVICH: ButI'll be capped at the trips. And I think that -- that that would address the -- plus
the development standards. But we would be capped so we can't put more traffic on there, had we done a retail office
project.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Then let me, I'll step off until John.

But then one other thing is why is it that you're not intending to put sidewalks along your roadways there?

MR. YOVANOVICH: We believe there's a better way to provide for pedestrian interconnection between the
different developments on the project. And frankly, forcing pedestrians on that driveway/road may not be the best for
them as far as how to walk through this project as well as the other projects. And staff agreed. I mean, it's hard to get
staff to agree to a sidewalk deviation.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Are you saying that you're going to provide other means of walking?

MR. YOVANOVITH: Yes, yes.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Is that outlined somewhere in here?

MR. YOVANOVICH: We don't have it on the master plan, it will be as part of the SDP process we will have
to show that we have provided an alternative that is better than sidewalks along the roads.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Because there was a lot of testimony when we were going through the car
dealership that maybe that should be a grocery store, et cetera, and it should be accessible from these semi-residential
buildings and from people shopping in these other areas. But you say that will be provided, just not as a sidewalk
along the roadway.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Correct. There will be pedestrian interconnects marked for people to use.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: I'm good, thanks.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Anybody else have any questions of the applicant?

(No response.)

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Richard, let's start with Page 22 of the staff report. It's concerning the NIM again.
You made a commitment at the NIM that you would meet again with the residents to review the issue of the wider
buffer area. I just want to confirm you did do that?

MR. YOVANOVICH: We did that through the president of the HOA.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. In Page 3 of the PUD, let's move on to the PUD, then. Actually it's on Page
4 and it's back to that little touchy subject of asterisks. Just so we're clear, the single asterisks shown on Page 4 don't
carry the same weight as the single asterisks shown on Pages 1, 2, and 3.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Correct.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Right.

MR. YOVANOVICH: It's specific to that Roman numeral two section.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. Just wanted to make sure.

In the development standards table on Page 5, the lake control elevation measurement, so that means you are
going to plat these lakes to the water's edge instead of to the 20-foot maintenance easement. So any setback
measurements are from the water's edge?

MR. YOVANOVICH: We may not plat the lake tracts, they could be part of a site development plan.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay.

MR. YOVANOVICH: So ifit's part of a site development plan it obviously wouldn't be a platted lake tract.
So the thought was, let's make sure we measure the setback from the maintenance easement that will go around, well,
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they take half the property and want to use six acres for conversion to ACLF or a hotel, how would staff know that
portions of the lakes, the preserve, the roads and whatever have to be attributed to that six acres that is going to be
used for conversion?

MS. DESELEM: For the record, Kay Deselem. I would think we would just use that portion of the property
that's being developed with that use. We wouldn't have any way to go over and try to calculate and add in the
incremental portions of any water management areas or anything.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: So, see, staff wouldn't do what you are saying you intended to do. Staff wouldn't
use the water management lakes. They wouldn't use the preserves, they wouldn't use the roadways, they would just
use the tract for the upland use, is what I think I hear Kay saying.

MS. DESELEM: Yes, and Ray is shaking his head that he --

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Well, then if you take a project of 13 acres and you have four acres, say, that aren't
even used for anything but those common elements and you convert the whole thing to hotel, you are only then going
to count for, of the 13 take off four down to nine acres, so they still have four acres unconverted more or less that they
could use for density count for upland uses.

MR. YOVANOVICH: But ifI've used the full nine acres of uplands, the only thing -- I can't build anything
on the lake.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Oh, no, I'm just curious as to how -- what we do with that residual that's not being
converted. You have an outstanding, an amount of calculable commercial space that is going to sit on John
Podczerwinsky's books forever for traffic counts or whatever. I'm just curious as to have we have ever -- how staff
handles it, but --

MR. YOVANOVICH: And probably I think my understanding, and John can correct me, is he doesn't
reserve capacity based upon the PUD, it's when I come in for a site development plan or a plat or whatever it is for
building permits, and I come in for the hotel and the hotel is X number of units and it takes up Y number of trips and
I've got no land left. He's not going to reserve for this ghost number of square footage that theoretically is out there
but practically is not. That's my understanding of how the system works.

So there won't be a reservation for the ghost strips. And then we, hopefully at some point we close out the
PUD so we don't have to keep doing the annual PUD monitoring reports with the annual counts. And as you're
seeing, there's more and more PUDs that are trying to go through the process now of actually closing out, which is
addressing the ghost density concems I think that are out there.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Right. But when you bring in these conversion factors, which we don't see that
often --

MR. YOVANOVICH: Right.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: -- there's this unknown leftover pieces that go to common elements like water
management and preserves. Idon't think we've thought out as far as how they apply to a conversion ratio. And I
don't think this is thinking about that way either.

MR. YOVANOVICH: And we try to do it both ways, where we've gone in and said, okay, instead of
converting based purely on square footage let's try to get really detailed and say, you know, X hotel rooms equal Y
retail square footage. And then we would have who knows how many permutations there would be for that.

And staff has said, you know, we got the trip cap so we know you are never going to exceed that number.
Instead of coming up with a lot of different permutations of what the actual conversion could be, based upon
transportation, let's just come up with something that is relatively simple to understand, cap it at the trips and address
it that way.

Because historically the major issues have been, can the roads handle what you are asking, have you done an
analysis for a max, and that's where the maxes comes in, can I come in and ask for X and get you guys to buy off on it
and then theoretically blow past what my transportation analysis showed. So I think we've tried to address it the best
way we could and make it relatively understandable for the public, for staff and for the developer, and hopefully this
works.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: I don't know how to make it any better than what it is. I'm just kind of curious as to
what we do with that void.

Go ahead, Brad.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Just following up, because it was a question I asked also, is -- so, Kay, if
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CHAIRMAN STRAIN: No.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Roman numeral VII of 16, under development intensities, VII -- VI. Roman numeral
VLD.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: And it's on your Exhibit C.1.B.

MR. YOVANOVICH: So we had thought we had addressed that on how to calculate it. If we need to clarify
it to make sure our intent to give more land towards the calculation is in fact implemented, we'll work with staff.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. I think that could be done by next time.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Yes. Ithink -- because I do think the intent is to use the gross acreage that
they define for each project. And that's how they'll probably sell it, that's how it will be built and permitted.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: That's something we should -- this board needs to be cognizant of, is that this has
been -- the entitlements are being requested today at the request of a bank that owns the property. Most likely the
bank will not be the developer. So it will be sold to someone, and who knows how they will interpret this document.
So we have to be careful on how it --

MR. YOVANOVICH: And that's not our goal. Our goal is to make it very clear, and that's why we worked
closely with the neighbors. Because the bank's not the happy owner of this piece of property, they're just the
unfortunate owner.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. The next question I have is still on Page 7, but this time it's D.

So in order to qualify for infill criteria, which is what this project is, you couldn't be over 12 acres. So to
avoid that you are just saying, we're going to give away 1.65 acres in preserve so it's not counted.

MR. YOVANOVICH: And that's what the Comp. Plan says.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Why did you say that, for the conversion factor, you divided the 145 by the 13.65
instead of by the 12?7

MR. YOVANOVICH: We looked at the project as, overall as a whole, and the 13.65 was the number.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: But --

MR. YOVANOVICH: And that's how we did the math.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: But you wouldn't use that. If you had to use that you wouldn't qualify for infill. So
it's kind of like you want your cake and eat it too.

Don't you think the conversion factor ought to be based on what you qualify for, and that's infill, which
means 12 acres? So if you do that, your 10,622 is slightly higher.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Okay. Did you do the math? I know you did.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Ididn't do the math. It's intuitive, that it's going to be higher.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Iknow it's higher, but I just thought, I thought you were --

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: No, I figure I'll leave that up to you. You're good with numbers. But I think that
ought to be your conversion ratio instead of the -- well, the number that you are trying not to use because you
wouldn't qualify then.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Okay. Understand. I understand. Tunderstand.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: On the master plan, that's one -- it's your Exhibit C.1.A -- you note deviation
number one on the master plan, and generally on the master plan we see deviations when they pertain to the master
plans. That one really doesn't. It's just a textual deviation that says you can have on the site, an FAR up to 6.0. Is it
necessary to show it on the master plan?

MR. YOVANOVICH: Our understanding is that whenever you request a deviation you are required to
identify where it can occur on the property. Thus we put the note. As you can see, the deviation's the entire property.
If we could take it off, it's fine with me, as long as I don't have to -- and [ won't have to change any asterisks or take
the number off. It's fine with us. We just understood we were required to do it. We did it.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: On the Parklands, the GL. Home property, when it first came in there was something
like 25 deviations. Idon't recall all those being noted on the master plan, but they may have been. Were you the
attorney for that one?

MR. YOVANOVICH: No, sir.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. Did -- George, you were involved in that. Was all those deviations shown
on the master plan?

No.
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preserve is part of the retention system, so water has to be contained in it. Just for your information all of those berms
will be planted, though. They will be more upland plants, though.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: But you are going to build a berm, so you are going to destroy the preserve
vegetation or the natural vegetation that's there now.

MR. HERMANSON: Yeah, but it will be replaced.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Right. Okay. So we're going to bulldoze it all down and then we're going to build a
berm and replace it all.

MR. HERMANSON: We've been through this with the water management district, and we're that far from
getting a permit, so they're okay with it, so --

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. Well, we're not the water management district. So I'm still trying to figure
out where the practicality is. You have a berm to the north, and all around it, it adjoins other preserves. And I think
its positioning was purposely so that it's contiguous to other preserves. And I know Chris is here, he's environmental.
Don't we try to make preserves contiguous? But if you are using that as a water management preserve, is the
hydrology in it going to be different than the preserves around it? Are we going to --

MR. HERMANSON: Slightly, yes. Yes.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: How does it qualify still as a preserve?

MR. HERMANSON: We had to demonstrate that the hydrology that we're creating would be acceptable.
And I'm mentioning the state again, but we had to go through a hydrologic analysis of what the water levels would be
in that because they'll be a little different than the other preserves. And that was acceptable. The water levels will be
a little bit higher there during summer.

But I will say this, that large preserve discharges through the berm. See the preserve along the west side, that
skinny one?

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Yes.

MR. HERMANSON: That will be receiving all the water that discharges from the system. That goes under a
box culvert that's shown under that road, which goes into the next preserve and eventually up to Pine Ridge Road. So
all of those preserves, not just the big one, but all of them will be hydrated from the system. It's just, it goes in steps,
that's all.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Is the reason that you need the preserve for the water management is because you
don't have enough lake area on the site?

MR. HERMANSON: Partly, yes. But I mean, that's a common way to use preserves. They want water.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Iknow. But it's for that purpose that you are going to have to destroy part of the
natural vegetation to recreate it to berm, to berm it and then recreate it, which just seems counterproductive.

MR. HERMANSON: A lot of those preserves, though, are very much disturbed. We tried to avoid getting
into the heart of them. The middle of that large preserve is the best part, and we're going around the edges, which is
not really creating an issue with them.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: In your calculations for your preserve acreage, when you did your survey work,
where did you draw your preserve boundary lines for the calculations?

MR. HERMANSON: In the calculations for the water management?

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: No, no. What area specifically on this map were counted as preserve acreage versus
anything else?

MR. HERMANSON: Well, as far as the -- and I'm going to refer to the state again because we're much
farther along, we had to count them both.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Both being?

MR. YOVANOVICH: The answer to your question for the county is we did not count the buffers towards
our preserve acreage.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: So the berms did not get counted as preserve acreage for the county.

MR. YOVANOVICH: For purposes of meeting and exceeding the county's required minimum native
vegetation number.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: So all the little dotted areas are the pure preserves, and that's all that you -- those
total, if someone were to calculate those, those would total the number of preserves you are saying you are setting
aside.
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CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Go ahead, Brad. Can we hit Kay real first, if we don't mind? Is there anything -- I
have one or two of Kay on the --

MS. DESELEM: If I may, one correction I need to make.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Yeah. I was going to say. That's one of them.

MS. DESELEM: Yes. Bob Duane brought it to my attention and I thought the correction had been made.
However it was not made in the NIM discussion. It was not Patrick Vanasse, planning director of RWA who made
the presentation, it was in fact Rich Yovanovich. And I apologize for that error.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: They look alike. Okay. Anybody else? If not, John. Thank you.

MR. PODCZERWINSKY: Good morning, Commissioners. For the record, John Podczerwinsky.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Good morning.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: John, the question is, in the traffic study it definitely shows the three
commercial uses. But what kind of trip generation do hotels and the adult living have?

MR. PODCZERWINSKY: If you wouldn't mind, I'm going to put up the graphic of the trip generation table
so that everybody can see it.

And generally, hotel uses per unit, which would be per hotel room, and also ALF uses, I think was the other
question, per bed, those units are typically a far lower trip generator than the per square foot or the per thousand
square foot units that we use in these trip generation reports. Shopping center and medical office typically in these
type of PUDs are usually our highest trip generating uses, with a few small exceptions.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: So it can be safely said that if they fully develop the site with the other uses,
that they would never get near these trip generations.

MR. PODCZERWINSKY: That's safe to say.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: So that means they could build the 350,000 square foot adult congregate
living center. So the trip generation is not giving us any protection from, you know -- we're discussing this in terms of
use of the roads but also the size of the object that they are going to build there could get pretty huge if there wasn't
something limiting it.

MR. PODCZERWINSKY: That's correct, sir. My intent, from the transportation standpoint, is not to touch
the square footage or to limit the square footage. That's based on other parts of the PUD document and it's not under
nmy purview.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: So then, Kay, when I asked Rich, he kind of gave me the impression not to
worry about it, the trip generation will take care of it. But it will never, according to John, become a denominator in
the process. So we could -- it's going to -- we could have some huge buildings if they, you know -- a .6 FAR on a
12-acre site or 13-acre site, if you want to call it that, is a lot, lot of square footage.

MS. DESELEM: For the record, Kay Deselem. One thing, that is a deviation that's being requested. So if
you have concerns about that, there is the action that you could do on the deviation that would prohibit .6.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: That's a good point. So we could maybe give them the .6 at a smaller site
but keep it to .3 on the whole site.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: That brings in another question. Would the .6 be calculated on the 13.65 or the 12?2

MR. BELLOWS: It would be the 12, which was the amount you are allowed under the commercial infill.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: It would be a lot. I mean, if you take out all the preserves, it's still, it's a
quarter of a million square foot building. So, you know, take out -- subtract 4.1, which is all the preserve and lake
areas. Idon't know what the intent is but we could drive down the street one day and find a huge adult living center.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: It's something to consider. I mean, are you -- if you guys were to build an adult
living center on there, were you -- do you have a maximum limit you were thinking of?

Or you wouldn't -- you're not going to build it --

MR. YOVANOVICH: We have development standards, okay. We have maximum heights, we have
setbacks from the different parameters. We haven't laid out what could that building footprint be within a three-story
configuration. But where this project is actually located, would it be the end of the world to have a senior housing
facility in this location of the town surrounded by commercial on both sides with appropriate height restrictions and
appropriate setback standards, capping on the trips?

Frankly, we never thought that that would be a bad thing. And it might be actually a good thing, if it became
a senior development versus a retail office, because we thought the development standards there to protect the public

Page 34 of 43






August 2, 2012

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Well, you could add, and their guests.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Okay. And let's -- please do that. Can we -- does anybody object to making we don't
-- and their guests?

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: I'understood that to be the intent anyway, okay.

Anything else?

Go ahead, Diane.

COMMISSIONER EBERT: I have a question but it's of Chris.

Chris, could you come --

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Well, let's finish with John first. He's waiting in the wings.

Chris, we're just going to be just a minute.

Anybody have any other questions of John?

(No response.)

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: John, I've got a couple.

In the land use you use 25,000 for shopping center because that's the limit to retail, but there is no limit on
general office. So there could be 120,000 of general office. General office is a little higher than medical. Does that
change anything?

MR. PODCZERWINSKY: Actually, medical is higher than general office, believe it or not.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: In the first column you've got 110 for general office, 109 for medical. So I made the
-- okay. So if medical was -- so you used the highest of all of the combinations then.

MR. PODCZERWINSKY: Yes, sir.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: The other thing is, the applicant started to get into the transportation development
commitments and the confusing language that was clarified now to be read differently than what's in our packet. Are
you -- have you reviewed that? '

MR. PODCZERWINSKY: Yes, sir, I did. And there was a communication that I sent to you yesterday, I
believe it was, in an attempt to clarify that.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Ididn't get a chance to read it before today's meeting.

MR. PODCZERWINSKY: The letter that I had originally sent was incorrect. I did bring a copy of that and I
have a mark-up that reflects the applicant's changes to that.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Are you in agreement with the applicant's changes?

MR. PODCZERWINSKY: Absolutely. Yes, sir.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: So the key number, the 565 changes to 577.

MR. PODCZERWINSKY: That's correct.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: And we strike that second, part of that second sentence.

MR. PODCZERWINSKY: Yes, sir, that's correct. And the only other change to that should be the date of
the TIS should be referred to the October 13th, 2011 TIS.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. Anybody else have anything of John?

COMMISSIONER EBERT: Yes, I do. I have one quick question, John. This is an activity center, right, the
corners, all four? Is it?

MR. YOVANOVICH: The corner is. But to be totally accurate, we're not within the activity center. We're
adjacent to it but we're not in it, and that's why we're under the commercial, the commercial infill criteria. But yes, it's
the four corners of the activity center, but we're adjacent to it and not within it.

COMMISSIONER EBERT: Have you counted -- has the other -- let me see. On the north side of Pine
Ridge, there is a large vacant property there. Has that already been zoned and do you have traffic counts for that?

MR. PODCZERWINSKY: It has been, to my understanding. It's -- they've acquired their zoning and I
believe they have gone through an SDP process on some of their buildings but not all. It may be a commercial plat at
this point. A commercial plat would not have all of the trips recorded yet until they come in for individual SDPs
within the plat, so --

COMMISSIONER EBERT: John, the only reason I'm asking is because Pine Ridge is stretched out to its
limit and so is Livingston. I guess there is a question, because it is such an active area, is all this kind of already taken
into account?

MR. PODCZERWINSKY: Yes, ma'am, it is. In fact, this is the majority of the reasoning behind our seeking
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We are going to add the ownerships disclosures to the packet record.

And that's it. That's the ones that I have. Does that seem to be consistent with everything we talked?

Brad?

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: You forgot the, with guests, in the hotel.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: That was one of the changes, okay. Yeah. In the PUD textual changes, we went
over a bunch of them during the meeting, and that was one that needs to be corrected as well.

MR. YOVANOVICH: The only one I would like one last shot at talking about is the --

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Oh, the deviation denial? We haven't talked about that.

MR. YOVANOVICH: We haven't talked about the deviation denial. And I don't -- actually, two things.
The note. When you were talking about the grammatical changes, were you referring to the reference to the LDC in
note three on the master plan?

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Yes. And also in the development standard table under the, use such as,
grammatical.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Those things. Okay.

What I really -- I believe that the conversion square footage that we proposed is fair because it's based upon
converting to, as John has already said, a lesser intense use. So even though we were using the gross square footage
and we're capped at the same number of trips, the square footage conversion, I don't think is a cake and eat it too
because it's a conversion to a lesser intense use, as testified to now by your staff as well. So I would hope we could
continue to leave the 10,660, I thing it is, square feet as the conversion formula instead of recalculating it at 12 acres.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Well, that's easy. Just drop the 145,000 to 12 times 10,000, whatever the number is.
So you don't want 145,000 in intensity then?

Richard --

MR. YOVANOVITCH: I've just -- Mr. Strain, I just --

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: When your testimony was that you used the 13.65, I can't sit -- I can't rest with that
on record as the basis for a calculation when the whole intention of this application was to fit into an infill district that
required you to be 12 acres or less. So it's just not -- it doesn't seem consistent. And I'm --

MR. YOVANOVICH: Then why don't we just take -- would it be wrong to just simply based on trips?

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: No.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Idon't want to get into all of -

MR. YOVANOVICH: I'm just saying we'd try to look at something that made sense.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: You're talking traffic engineers, and they have 15 different ways to explain things.
If you ask them something, they'll always come to the conclusion that you want them to come to. And I don't really
want to go there.

I'd rather not get into a confusing issue like traffic science. I would rather stick to a simple thing that you
calculated out. You told us what the calculation was. Correct it one way or the other. I'd prefer -- and I don't think
you can correct it to 13.65 because this application is not supposed to be based on 13.65, it's supposed to be based on
12, otherwise you don't qualify for infill. And if you don't qualify for infill we're looking at a whole different ball
game, SO —-

Go ahead.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: I support that, Mark. And every one of these conversion acres gives you
26,000 square feet to build. So, in other words, the reward for conversion in terms of the group home is a large
amount of square footage.

MR. YOVANOVICH: Okay. Iunderstand what you are saying.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Anything -- then let's just talk about the issue of the deviation. I think it's number
three for staff. They recommend a denial on it. Basically what staff's saying is that the required wall ought to go
around the entire preserve, regardless of whether it's not where it's located; is that correct?

MS. DESELEM: Yes, sir, that is correct.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: And the applicant's suggesting it makes more practical sense just to put it along
where it's most needed, and that's along the residential portion of the south side of the project.

What's the consensus on this board?

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: I support what the applicant wants, because I don't like digging in the
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MS. DESELEM: If [ may?

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Yes, ma'am.

MS. DESELEM: Staff looked at it as the total acreage, but in light of what's come up today, I think that was
in error. And I think what you pointed out is very important to consider, that it is the infill and it's only 12 acres. So
we erred in our initial evaluation. I think you're correct, sir.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Thank you. And, Richard, if you pursue this, you might end up with a split vote
where would you go forward and have to be -- off of potential consent. It's up to you.

MR. YOVANOVICH: I'm not that -- well, maybe I am, at home. So I'll qualify. I won't make my
statement. [ understand. It's not worth the argument.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Idon' think it is. Ithink you guys are getting a good project with the right acreage.
I don't know what we're --

MR. YOVANOVICH: We understand. And we appreciate the differences of opinion.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Anything else from anybody?

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: I'm starting to come around. The point they make is a good point, that they
could build the 13.65 acre site without any infill issues, and that's's what they used to make their conversion factor.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: But if they had a standalone application for a group housing at 13.65 acres with a .6
FAR, based on what you previously said about the size of the building, would you still think that's reasonable?

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: We might not give them --

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. Therein lies the difference.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: He's accepted it.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Okay. So now we've got the stipulations. We added to it that the group acres will
be based on a 12-acre count. The group --

MS. ASHTON: FAR.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: The group use that Heidi brought to our attention was based on a 12-acre count.

Anybody else have any others?

Is staff clear on the stipulations and the discussion?

MS. DESELEM: Ibelieve so, yes.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Is there a motion on the part of the Planning Commission?

COMMISSIONER VONIER: So moved.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Bill, before you -- you want to hold that motion for just a minute, Bill?

Go ahead, Richard.

MR. YOVANOVICH: With the changes that are being made, is staff willing to change their
recommendation on the wall issue? Because, if staff's going to fight me on that issue, I'm on regular agenda.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Kay?

MR. BELLOWS: For the record, Ray Bellows. The reason we wanted the wall there was the concern of, if
there's clearing of the preserve of exotics, it thins it out rather heavily. And I think that's what was the issue with the
other part of the development, as was mentioned earlier about the tire store, because there was a lot of clearing of the
exotics in there and it thinned out that preserve.

But if it's -- the Planning Commission is strongly supportive of approving the petitioner's request, then I don't
have a problem with it.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Does anybody on the Planning Commission -- go ahead, Paul.

COMMISSIONER MIDNEY: 1 don't understand what you mean, that they would thin out the preserve.

MR. BELLOWS: Exotics need to be removed from preserve areas, and some preserves have a lot of exotics.
And when you remove all of them you can start seeing through the preserve areas, and noise and sound travels
through those preservers a lot easier then.

COMMISSIONER MIDNEY: So the wall would be a visual aid to the people in the adjoining development.

MR. BELLOWS: And, more significantly, a sound barrier.

COMMISSIONER MIDNEY: Sound barrier to the adjoining development?

MR. BELLOWS: Yes.

COMMISSIONER MIDNEY: But I think our attitude would be that this is going to fill in because they've
agreed to pretty strict filling in and a lot of planting and a lot of monitoring, and it's supposed to be filled in 80
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***We have no new business.

The next time --

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Mark, I have one little question.

In watching the commission hearings on the LDC I noticed that some of the hearings had people giving
expert opinions. Some, I guess lobbyists or people came before the commission that didn't come before the Planning
Commission. Is there any kind of requirement that if somebody is going to provide evidence or testimony to the
commission that they've done it to the Planning Commission prior?

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: No. I wish there was.

No. In fact I think it's a bad habit. I shouldn't say habit, but a bad situation that sometimes occurs. People
realize, if they save their ammunition to use it at the BCC where it can be more, let's say, impactful with the final
voters than us, they would hold off and drop the bomb there instead of trying to negotiate it here. And unfortunately
that has happened and it could happen again.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: But what it does, it means that they're making a point that, where the
Planning Commission didn't know this, so it's kind of an unfair strategy. Is it something that other communities have
it where, if you are going to lobby the commission, you have to first lobby the planning commission and their
judgment?

MS. DESELEM: For the record, Kay Deselem. In my experience with Lee County where they have a
hearing examiner’s process, you have to have standing with the hearing examiner before you can address the board.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: Okay. Because, if somebody had an important bit of info, which it
appeared they thought they had, we should hear it too and use it for our judgment, not just let it go there. Because the
point comes as, well, maybe if the planning commission knew that, they would have done something different.

MS. DESELEM: Historically --

MR. BELLOWS: The board could refer it, right, or remand it.

MS. DESELEM: I've seen other planning commissions and zoning boards where they don't have that
requirement. But the board does always have the option to remand a petition if they think it needs further
consideration by the Planning Commission.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: So it's their judgment to say, well, maybe that's something you should have
told the Planning Commission, and send it back.

MS. DESELEM: Possibly, yes.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: You know, it might help if, in those instances where that is obvious, that staff at
least tell the board, by the way, you're hearing information that was not provided to the Planning Commission, so they
know that they could make that decision to consider sending it back to us because that information is valuable enough
that we should have heard it. That would be helpful.

COMMISSIONER SCHIFFER: I think so, because I think it would be fair for everybody if everybody heard
the same thing.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: I think that's a good point.

MR. BELLOWS: We can inform --

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: Talk to Nick about it and -- yeah.

MR. BELLOWS: Other staff members involved and see if we can come up with some policy in that regard.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: [Ithink it would be helpful.

Anything else from anybody? And the public's gone.

So a motion to adjourn?

COMMISSIONER AHERN: So moved.

CHAIRMAN STRAIN: By Melissa, second by Barry. We're out of here.
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